1954

South Cache Water users Association et al v. Stockholders of the South Cache Water Users Association et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

South Cache Water Users Association was organized September 30, 1933, by nine individuals, who took one share of stock each, (R. 161, Ex. A). The total number of shares of stock authorized was 14,000 shares, (R. 162, Ex. A). But only the initial nine shares were issued at that time.

Prior to entering into any stock subscription contracts, South Cache Water Users Association entered into a contract with the United States of America, for the construction of the Hyrum Project. This contract is dated October 9, 1933. Under that contract the Government limited its obligation to advance funds to a sum

not exceeding \$930,000.00, and insofar as said sum would permit agreed (a) to build the Hyrum Reservoir, (b) to build the Wellsville Canal and Pumping Plant, (c) to build the Hyrum-Mendon Canal, and (d) to build the Hyrum Feeder Canal, (R. 165, Ex. B). It was contemplated that the Hyrum Reservoir would have storage capacity of 14,000 acre feet, and that 14,000 shares of stock of South Cache would be sold. In addition the Hyrum Project owned various direct flow water rights, which will be more specifically defined below, (Ex. B). In the contract with the United States, South Cache agreed to pay as the construction charge the actual cost of the project, as determined by the Secretary of the Interior, but not to exceed \$930,000.00, (Ex. B). This was later increased to \$955,930.00, (Ex. F). The contract also provided that the Association would "cause to be made and collected all necessary assessments, including assessments to make up for the defaults for those who do not pay construction or other charges to the United States * * *", and to use all powers of the Association to levy and collect assessments against its shares of stock, to collect and pay to the United States the sums provided for by the contract, (R. 165, Ex. B).

Thereafter subscription contracts were made with Hyrum Irrigation Company (under the terms of which Hyrum agreed to purchase 3300 shares of stock) (R. 165, Ex. C) with Wellsville-Mendon Irrigation Company, (under the terms of which that company agreed to purchase 6125 shares of stock) and two separate contracts

with Wellsville City Irrigation Company, which agreed to purchase a total of 1700 shares of stock, (R. 237).

It is obvious from the wording of the various subscription contracts that it was not known exactly what the cost of the project would be, nor was it known whether the 14,000 shares of authorized stock of South Cache could be sold, (Ex. C, par. 11).

The project, of course, was a reclamation project. From the very beginning of the Reclamation Act of June 17, 1902, 32 Stat. L. page 388, the Reclamation Act has provided:

“That upon the determination by the Secretary of the Interior that any irrigation project is practicable, he may cause to be let contracts for the construction of the same * * * and thereafter he (the Secretary) shall give notice * * * of the charges which shall be made * * * and the number of annual installments, not exceeding ten, in which such charges shall be paid and the time when such payments shall commence. The said charges shall be determined with a view of returning to the reclamation fund the estimated cost of construction of the project, and *shall be apportioned equitably.*”

The Reclamation Act has been amended on numerous occasions, but the provision requiring that the costs of construction “be apportioned equitably” has always appeared in the law. It now is Section 461, Title 43, U.S.C.A. In “Kinney on Irrigation and Water Rights”, Vol. 3, Section 1286, there is set forth the standard forms of Articles of Incorporation, by-laws and sub-

scription contracts used by water users associations and the Government in the building of such projects. It is stated:

“everything in connection with the organization of these associations must be in accordance with the government’s method, as approved by the Secretary of the Interior, or not at all.”

The Articles of South Cache were introduced in evidence, (Ex. A). On page 8 of those Articles in Article XV, the manner of paying for the stock which would be sold is outlined. It is provided that:

“At the time such shares of stock are sold to the subscriber therefor, such subscriber shall be required to pay an assessment of fifty cents per share, and annually on or before the first day of February of each year, the board of directors shall prepare a budget covering the estimated cost of operation, maintenance, *construction work, payments due on contracts* or bond, and any other expense or *costs* for the ensuing year and shall apportion the estimate so prepared by an assessment or assessments *equitably, but not necessarily equally*, against each share of stock outstanding.”

It was also provided in Article XI of the South Cache Articles that revenues for the payment of “*construction costs*” should be raised from the assessment of stock and that stock “shall” be “equitably”, but need not be “equally” assessed. In this regard Article XI provides:

“Revenues for the accomplishment of the purposes of this corporation shall be raised:

“(a) From income arising from the carriage, rental or delivery of water for irrigation or other purposes or from the sale, rental, lease, or furnishing otherwise of electric or other power, or power privileges, or from any other lawful operations of the corporation.

“(b) From assessments against the shares of stock of the corporation so far as they may be from time to time necessary to meet:

“1. *The cost of construction, improvement, enlargement, betterment, repairs, operation and maintenance of the irrigation and other works of the corporation, or of those managed, controlled, operated or maintained by it.*

“2. *Payments due the United States under any contract or contracts between the United States and the corporation, or payments under any contract between the United States and other parties which are assumed or guaranteed by the corporation.*

“3. Deficiencies caused by the failure of some of the shareholders of the corporation to pay assessments upon their share of stock.

“4. Any and all lawful obligations of the corporation.

“(c) *Assessments against the outstanding shares of stock for the raising of revenues, as aforesaid, shall be equitably but need not be equally assessed.*

“This provision for equitable but unequal assessments is to take care of situations where expenditures are made or are necessary for purposes that are of benefit to a part only of the stockholders, or where existing or future contracts with the United States or the laws or regu-

lations of the United States now or hereafter require unequal assessments, or where unequal assessments are required or permitted by the terms or conditions of any contract between the corporation and any stockholder.”

It is important to note that the Articles were drafted and filed prior to the time Hyrum subscribed for any stock. The Articles were filed on the 30th day of September, 1933, (Ex. A), and the subscription contract with Hyrum was signed January 5, 1934, (Ex. C). Hyrum thus subscribed for its stock, knowing that the provisions set forth above were a part of South Cache’s Articles; that it would be required to pay 50 cents per share at the time of its stock subscription and that thereafter all of the revenues for the company necessary for paying all operation, maintenance and construction costs and payments to the Government and all other expenses would be paid from the annual stock assessments, which would be “equitably but not necessarily equally assessed.” The court’s attention is directed to the use of the word “shall” in reference to the making of assessments. The court’s attention is also directed to the fact that both in Article XV and in Article XI the language expressly provides for the making of equitable assessments to pay (1) *the cost of construction*, and (2) *the payment on the contracts with the United States*. Article XI even explains why the provisions for unequal assessments are made, and says that it is to provide for situations where expenditures are made for purposes that are of benefit to a part only of the stockholders. These matters are of importance, because of Hyrum’s contention that these

Articles required that South Cache make equitable assessments to pay the construction costs of the Hyrum Project. The trial court ruled that these provisions did not apply to original construction costs, but only to future construction costs. It also ruled that the provision did not apply to assessments for the purpose of making payments to the Government, (R. 109).

One other provision of the contract documents is important in the Statement of Facts. We believe that it is this provision upon which the court based its ruling that South Cache was to make equal assessments to pay for the original Hyrum construction project. The provision in question is contained in the Hyrum contract, (Ex. C).

The eighth “whereas” clause recites that:

“The Association will levy assessments upon its stock from time to time for the purposes of raising funds with which to meet installments due the United States under said Association-Government contract, and to raise funds for other expenses and charges of said Association.”

The contract further provides in paragraph 10 that Hyrum will pay to South Cache the full purchase price of Hyrum’s share of stock and “*any and all assessments assessed * * * as may be necessary to enable the Association to pay in full when due the Association’s indebtedness to the United States under said Association-Government contract. Assessments levied by the com-*

pany hereunder shall conform to the requirements of the federal reclamation laws now or hereafter enacted."

The contract then provides (and this is the clause which we believe the respondents rely upon), that:

*"The company shall pay for the benefit of the United States, as the purchase price of the shares of stock in the Association herein subscribed for, that portion of the total sums and charges required to be paid by the Association to the United States under said Association-Government contract, that the number of shares of the Association stock subscribed for by the company shall bear to the total number of shares of such stock outstanding and assessable at the time the construction of the works described in Article II hereof is authorized by the Secretary, unless permitted by the secretary to use a different number of shares as the basis of computation. * * *"*

We construe this language, as our argument will develop, to be a provision for the benefit of the United States, so that the United States would be assured that the construction costs would be repaid. We, therefore, italicized in the quote the language "for the benefit of the United States". But it is our contention that as between the stockholders themselves, the other provisions of the subscription contract and Article XI and XV of South Cache Articles of Incorporation, contemplate and expressly provide that these repayments to the Government will be made from an equitable assessment of the stock. This is the primary issue for determination on this appeal. If we are right in this conten-

tion, then we respectfully submit that under the facts of this case it is not equitable to assess Hyrum equally. The evidence which was introduced primarily related to the benefits which each of the parties received from the project, as the same related to this issue.

FACTS OFFERED TO PROVE THAT AN EQUAL ASSESSMENT IS NOT EQUITABLE HERE

The facts which support our contention that it is not equitable to assess Hyrum on an equal basis with the other stockholders are as follows: First, the entire project construction costs totalled \$955,930.00. Exhibit F shows the breakdown of this cost. In round figures, this Exhibit discloses that \$733,000.00 was expended for the impounding dam and \$222,000.00 for canals. It is not disputed that the two main canals which were constructed with the approximately \$210,000.00 were not to any extent constructed for the benefit or use of Hyrum. Hyrum does not and can not use them, (R. 228, 236). They were built entirely for the purpose of furnishing water to new lands which had not theretofore been irrigated. The three canals which were constructed were the Hyrum-Mendon Canal at a cost of \$139,000.00; the Hyrum Feeder Canal (which is used by Hyrum) at a cost of \$13,000.00; the Wellsville Canal and pumping plant, at a cost of \$58,000.00, and the diversion works costing \$11,900.00, (Exhibit F). The only one of these facilities which Hyrum can use is the \$13,000.00 feeder canal.

This court may know from its previous decisions relative to the Little Bear River what the physical conditions are. See *Richmond v. Utah Power & Light Co.*, 115 Utah 352, 204 P. (2d) 818. Hyrum is located upstream from Hyrum Reservoir, (Ex. H). It gets its water from a canal known as the Avon Canal. This Avon Canal diverts at a point several miles upstream from the reservoir and water is applied to the Hyrum Bench, all of which is at a higher elevation than the reservoir, (R. 246). Hyrum's Avon Canal was constructed in 1860 at Hyrum's sole expense. Under the Kimball Decree, which is introduced in evidence as Exhibit J, page 55, Hyrum owns 63 c.f.s. of water with priority dates all many years earlier than any of the Hyrum Project filings. Hyrum, therefore, did not need any canal, and no canal was constructed for Hyrum's benefit, except the \$13,000.00 Feeder Canal which diverts below the reservoir, (R. 228, 301), (Ex. K).

On the other hand, the Wellsville Pumping Plant and the Hyrum-Mendon Canal were both new canals to irrigate new lands which had never been under irrigation prior to the Hyrum Project. Therefore, nearly \$210,000 of the \$955,930 was spent for the construction of canals which were exclusively for the benefit of part only of the stockholders. Since Hyrum has subscribed for nearly one-third of the South Cache stock, it is presently paying nearly one-third of the construction cost of the canals which were constructed exclusively for the other stockholders. It has already paid for its own canal. It is, therefore, Hyrum's contention that it is not equitable

to assess the stock equally, and make it pay for one-third of the cost of the private canals of the other stockholders. An equitable assessment would require the stockholders who use those canals to pay for them.

A second basis of inequality concerns the use of project direct flow water. As is recited in the Government contract with South Cache, the project owned enough water to store 14,000 acre feet of water in the Hyrum Reservoir and in addition has 280 c.f.s. of water, which it can use by direct flow, (Ex. B, page 32). The lands under the Hyrum-Mendon Canal and the lands under the Wellsville Pumping Plant (constructed at a cost of \$210,000.00 for exclusive use of part only of the stockholders) could never have used the flood waters of Little Bear River until after the Hyrum Project, (R. 238), (Ex. O). By reason of the construction of their canals and of the pumping plant, and of the reservoir, the water is at an elevation and the facilities exist, so that these stockholders can now use the direct flow water, (R. 238-239, Ex. K).

In other words, before the Hyrum project, the lands now irrigated by the flood waters of Little Bear River under these two new canals, could not be irrigated at all, (R. 319, 320, 321, 182). On the other hand, Hyrum had a canal at Avon capable of taking over 60 c.f.s. of water, (R. 300-301). Hyrum has decreed water rights adequate to completely fill its canal and irrigate its lands whenever there is sufficient water in Little Bear River to permit the Hyrum project to take water either for

storage or by direct flow. Hyrum's priorities are all earlier priorities than any of the rights in the Hyrum Project. If the project is able, either to store water or to use any direct flow water under its 1928 filings, Hyrum's water rights, which it owned long before (as early as 1860) the project was ever constructed, were sufficient to fill its canal, (R. 306). The net result is that the other stockholders of South Cache, by reason of the construction of the Hyrum Project and its water filings, are able to use and do use large quantities of direct flow water. These stockholders utilize both their project storage water and in the Spring they take large quantities of flood water, (R. 320). It was stipulated that Hyrum did not use project direct flow water, except a very small quantity through the Hyrum Feeder Canal, which is below the reservoir, (R. 305-306, Ex. K) and even this canal can be substantially filled with Hyrum's early priority water.

It is not disputed that these other stockholders do get large quantities of these direct flow project waters and Hyrum does not. It is likewise not disputed that in the making of assessments these direct flow waters have never been required to bear any portion of the construction cost of the Hyrum Project or even of operation and maintenance costs. It is Hyrum's contention that the assessments made for the purpose of repaying the Government the construction costs should take into consideration this direct flow water and make the users of it pay some portion of construction costs.

Third, Hyrum contends that it is not able to get and does not get its storage water. This, we think, is the least important of all of our arguments, although more time was spent on it in the evidence because of the difficulties of proof.

Hyrum is admittedly benefited to some extent from the construction of the Hyrum Dam. The water which accumulates under its 3300 shares of stock is stored in the dam, and is exchanged to Wellsville East Field Irrigation Company for that company's direct flow water, to the extent that it can be captured at Avon. The exchange works this way—Wellsville, under the Kimball Decree, Ex. J, has a priority of April 1860, for 30 c.f.s. of water, (see page 55 of said exhibit). Hyrum has 3 c.f.s. with the same priority, (see page 56 of said exhibit). Hyrum's big water rights carry a priority one month later, to wit, May 1, 1860, (see page 56 of said exhibit). Thus, whenever the river at Wellsville's point of diversion, which is below the Hyrum Dam, is 30 c.f.s. or less, Hyrum would be required to let sufficient water pass its diversion point at Avon to yield Wellsville's water at Wellsville's diversion. By reason of its stock subscription, it can store water in the Hyrum reservoir. When the river drops below 30 c.f.s. at the head of the Wellsville canal, Hyrum still takes all the water at Avon and releases the storage water to Wellsville. Therefore, Hyrum does get some benefits from the reservoir and has been and is willing to pay for those benefits, but it does not benefit from the canals, constructed exclusively

for the other stockholders at a cost of \$210,000.00, and it should not be required to pay for them.

Still, under any view of the evidence, it is clear that Hyrum does not get its 3300 acre feet of water, simply because the river will not yield 3300 acre feet of Wellsville's water at the mouth of Hyrum's Avon canal. In other words, the only water which Hyrum can take from the storage project is the amount it needs to release to Wellsville to make up for Wellsville's water which Hyrum takes in Hyrum's Avon canal, (R. 301, 319, 350). A small quantity of water can be taken in the Hyrum Feeder Canal, which is located downstream from the reservoir, but Hyrum in that vicinity has a water right for 3 c.f.s. of water with a priority equal to that of Wellsville, (April 1, 1860, Ex. J). The canal is not large. The lands under it do not consist of much acreage and the quantity of project water actually taken into the feeder canal is always small. It was basically intended that Hyrum would benefit from the Hyrum reservoir simply by reason of its exchanges with Wellsville. But, whenever the river is yielding at Wellsville's point of diversion its 30 c.f.s. of water, Hyrum is entitled to take under its own priorities all the water in the river at Avon. It is only when Wellsville is not able to get its water that Hyrum would be required to let any water pass its canal, or in lieu thereof to release reservoir water.

It should be noted that there are great quantities of inflow into Little Bear River below Hyrum's canal, but

above the Wellsville Canal. Even though Hyrum maintains a tight dam at Avon, there will often be sufficient accumulations in the river below to give Wellsville all of the water to which it is entitled, (R. 146, 206-212). At the few times in the season when the river flow recedes to a flow so low as to permit Wellsville to make Hyrum let some water pass its Avon Canal, the river is so low at Avon that Hyrum can not get 3300 acre feet of Wellsville's water at that point. Therefore, Hyrum was "sold a bill of goods" and does not get its 3300 acre feet. In other words, when the river flow is high, Wellsville can and does get its 30 c.f.s. from tributaries below Avon. When the river is low, part of the water at Avon belongs to Wellsville. Hyrum takes it and releases water to Wellsville from the reservoir. But when the river is low, the flow at Avon is also low and Hyrum cannot get 3300 acre feet of Wellsville's water at that point.

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