1954

South Cache Water users Association et al v.
Stockholders of the South Cache Water Users
Association et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT CALLS (ASSESSMENTS) FOR PAYMENT OF STOCK SUBSCRIPTIONS MUST BE MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STOCK SUBSCRIPTION CONTRACT

The appellant contends that the court erred (1) in holding that the provisions of the South Cache articles of incorporation requiring an equitable assessments of its stock do not apply to assessments for the purpose of paying construction costs, and (2) that the various contracts documents, including Hyrum subscription contract, its mortgage, and the South Cache articles of incorporation require Hyrum to pay an equal share of all project construction costs. (See appellant’s brief, page 23).

It is respondent’s position, on the other hand, that the parties have, by the express terms of the subscription contract, Exhibit C, set forth in full on pages 8 to 15 of this brief, agreed that calls for the purpose of

paying the purchase price of Hyrum stock in South Cache will be made on a proportionate basis. Hyrum agreed to pay that proportion of the total sums and charges required to be paid by the South Cache to the United States that the number of shares of stock subscribed for by Hyrum shall bear to the total number of shares of stock outstanding and assessable at the time of construction of the Hyrum Project works.

It appears that a good deal of confusion and difficulty in this case has resulted from the loose use of the word "assessment", and the failure, particularly, to distinguish between assessments and calls in considering the language of the articles of incorporation and the subscription contract. It is our position that the parties have made a firm written agreement as to the amount and time of payment of the purchase price of Hyrum's stock in South Cache and that South Cache, in making its annual levy of assessments, must include as an item the amount due on the purchase price of the stock under the subscription contract.

(The terms "call" and "assessment" are frequently used synonymously or interchangeably to denote a demand on a stockholder for a contribution to capital under the terms of the original subscription agreement, although, strictly speaking, an "assessment" is a demand on the stockholders for an amount in excess of the par value of the stock held by them, while a "call" is a demand for the payment of all or a portion of unpaid subscriptions.) (18 C.J.S. 882).

Section 16-4-1, U.C.A. 1953, recognizes the distinction between calls and assessments and codifies an elementary rule of law respecting the powers of boards of directors of corporations as follows:

“The board of directors of any corporation whose stock shall not be full-paid may, for the purpose of paying expense, conducting business or paying debts, levy and collect calls upon the subscribed and unpaid stock thereof in such manner, at such times and in such amounts as may be prescribed in the articles of incorporation *or the subscription agreement* . . . ” (emphasis added).

There is no dispute between the parties hereto as to the annual assessment covering items other than the installment on the purchase price of the stock. It is admitted that as to such items the board of directors has general authority with perhaps some discretion as to what is an equitable basis, but we emphatically insist that the amount to be applied on the purchase price of South Cache stock must be collected strictly in accordance with the subscription contract which provides that it shall be on an proportionate basis, and has been accepted and adhered to by all interested parties for the past 17 years.

Let us examine the articles of incorporation to determine whether they contain any provision respecting the levying and collection of calls. Assessments are mentioned in Articles IX, X, XI, and XV of the articles of incorporation, (Defendant's Exhibit A.) In Articles

IX and X appears the identical language

“The stock of this corporation shall be assessable”.

This is obviously a provision for assessment of all stock of the corporation, whether fully paid or not for all corporate purposes. It is not a provision for a call.

Article XI relates to the sources of corporate revenue and includes an item (b) indicating that one source of revenue is the proceeds from assessments against shares of stock for the numerous purposes therein mentioned. Item (c) provides:

“Assessments against the outstanding shares of stock for the raising of revenues, as aforesaid, shall be equitably, but need not be equally, assessed. This provision for equitable but unequal assessments is to take care of situations where expenditures are made or are necessary for purposes that are of benefit to a part only of the stockholders, or where existing or future contracts with the United States or the laws or regulations of the United States now or hereafter require unequal assessments, or where unequal assessments are required or permitted by the terms or conditions of any contract between the corporation and any stockholder.”

There is nothing in Article XI which indicates that this provision applied to calls as distinguished from other assessments. It was obviously inserted to indicate assessments for all purposes as a source of revenue.

Article XV has to do with stock subscriptions, and

in the main relates to (1) security for payment of stock subscriptions, (2) foreclosure of mortgages or liens given for security of such subscription, and (3) assessments. The part relating to assessments provides:

“At the time such shares of stock are sold to the subscriber therefor, such subscriber shall be required to pay an assessment of Fifty Cents (\$0.50) per share, and annually on or before the first (1st) day of February of each year the board of directors shall prepare a budget covering the estimated cost of operation, maintenance, construction work, payments due on contracts or bonds, and any other expense or costs for the ensuing year and shall apportion the estimate so prepared by an assessment or assessments equitably but not necessarily equally against each share of stock outstanding. Such assessments shall be paid on a date and in a manner provided by the board, but in no event later than the opening of the irrigation season in that year.”

It will be observed that Article XV requires a deposit of 50 cents per share at the time the stock is sold. This is referred to in the articles as an “assessment”. This is very clearly the down payment on an installment contract for the purchase of stock. The article then directs the board of directors to prepare a budget covering the following items of expenses or costs for the ensuing year which are listed and indicated by letter for convenience in this discussion.

- (a) Operation
- (b) Maintenance

- (c) Construction Work
- (d) Payments due on contracts or bonds
- (e) Other costs and expenses

The board is then directed to apportion the estimate so prepared by an assessment or assessments “equitably but not necessarily equal against each share of stock outstanding”.

It is significant that there is no provision in the articles of incorporation which declares that either assessments or calls *shall not be equal*. The board of directors is simply given general authority to levy assessments and calls to pay the corporate obligations. The articles constitute a grant of authority but do not specify in detail as to how assessments shall be made except the general assertion they shall be equitable but need not be equal. The *detail* as to the amount and time of calls upon subscribed stock which is not full-paid (after the initial assessment or deposit of 50c per share) *is not specified*. *This is not surprising. Ordinarily, such matters are covered by the subscription contract.* This was the case here. Article XI of the subscription contract in plain, unequivocal language provides:

“PURCHASE PRICE OF SHARES OF STOCK”

11. The Company shall pay, for the benefit of the United States as the purchase price of the shares of stock in the Association herein subscribed for, that proportion of the total sums

and charges required to be paid by the Association to the United States under said Association-Government contract, that the number of shares of Association stock subscribed for by the Company shall bear to the total number of shares of such stock outstanding and assessable at the time the construction of the works described in Article 2 hereof is authorized by the Secretary.

The "works" referred to in Article 2 are described as follows:

"Certain irrigation works in Cache County, Utah, for the storage, diversion and beneficial use of the waters of the Little Bear River and its tributaries for irrigation and other purposes, consisting of a reservoir on the Little Bear River near Hyrum, Utah, known as the Hyrum Reservoir, and three canals known respectively as the Wellsville Canal (including a pumping plant in connection therewith), the Hyrum-Mendon Canal, and the Hyrum Feeder Canal."

At page 10 of Appellant's brief, attempt is made to dispose of the legal effect of the terms of the subscription contract which fix the items that are to be included in the costs of the original project as above set forth by arguing, that this provision in the contract is for the benefit of the United States, so that the United States would be assured that the construction costs would be paid. We answer that it was not only for the benefit of the United States (payee) but also for the benefit of the other parties to the project (payors). It is just as import for the payors to know what proportion of the project they are obligated to pay as it is for the United States to know from whom it will be

paid. This argument of appellant is wholly without merit. There is nothing inconsistent between the articles of incorporation and the subscription contract. The former, as is customary, contains broad grants of authority to the board of directors, and the latter spells out the amount and time of the annual call against the stock to pay the purchase price thereof.

The articles of incorporation and the subscription contract must be read and construed together. If the documents are so construed, it is clear that items in Articles XV, listed above as (a), (b), (c) and (e), may be paid by equitable assessments which may or may not be equal, but item (d) must be paid by calls made on a proportionate basis because any other basis would violate the express provisions of Article II of the subscription agreement, quoted above.

Hyrum contends that South Cache is required by the general language of the Articles of Incorporation to make calls according to benefits received regardless of the express provisions of the subscription contract requiring calls on a proportionate basis. The law does not support this contention. The rule has been stated as follows:

“A general power in the charter of the corporation to make calls for installments *will not permit the making of calls in violation of the terms of the written contract of subscription.*”
18 C.J.S. 885 (emphasis added)

In the case of *Roberts v. Mobile and Ohio R. R. Co.*, 32 Miss. 373 a charter of the railroad company provided that the company had the right “to call for installments of stock at such times and in such amounts as they might think proper.” A subscription contract contained specific limitations as to the times and amounts of payment. The question was raised as to whether calls could be made without regard to the specific provisions of the subscription contract. The Court held:

“And it is immaterial that the company had the right by their charter to call for installments of stock at such times and in such amounts as they might think proper. They also had the right to make contracts for the payment of stock, subject to conditions as to calls for installments; and if they had not, this contract is without legal authority and invalid which will scarcely be contended for in behalf of the company. *The right to call for payment of installments of stock under the general power of the charter, would give them no power to make such calls at times or for purposes in contravention of their positive agreement entered into between them and subscribers at the time of subscribing, and incorporated into the written contract.*” (emphasis added)

SUBSCRIPTION CONTRACT IS ONE OF A SERIES
OF SIMILAR CONTRACTS EQUALLY RELIED
UPON AND BINDING ON ALL THE STOCK-
HOLDERS TO FINANCE THE HYRUM PROJECT

That the board of directors must levy proportionate

call assessments for the purchase price of the stock, as provided by the subscription contract, is clear for another reason. It is one of a series of such contracts for the financing of the reclamation project. The basic documents consist of the articles of incorporation, the repayment contract with the United States, and the subscription contracts with Hyrum, Wellsville City Irrigation Company and Wellsville-Mendon Conservation District. In the original repayment contract, the South Cache agreed to make an annual payment to the United States amounting to 1/40th of the sum of \$930,000, with the proviso that in case the total cost of the project works was less than \$930,000, the amount to be repaid would be proportionately reduced. This item of cost was considered the construction cost of the project and each stockholder, by its subscription contract, agreed to pay for its stock by paying its proportionate share of that amount each year. Each agreement is just as definite and certain as to the amount and time of payment as words can make it. Each subscriber relied upon each other subscriber when it signed its subscription contract. If the Court were to hold that the board of directors had authority to ignore the subscription contract and reduce the payment to be made by Hyrum it would, by the same token, have to authorize the board to increase the annual call against Wellsville City Irrigation Company and the Wellsville-Mendon Conservation District, the other stockholders, in order to meet the annual payment due the United States. This,

of course, cannot be done. It would in effect require the board to write new contracts for the several contracting parties.

IN VIEW OF THE FIRM AGREEMENT BY HYRUM TO PAY CALLS ON ITS STOCK ON A PROPORTIONATE BASIS IT IS BOUND BY THAT AGREEMENT AND THE CASE SHOULD PROPERLY END THERE. ALL THE PAGES OF RECORD AND ARGUMENT ATTEMPTING TO ESTABLISH THAT THIS IS AN INEQUITABLE CONTRACT BY REASON OF THE RELATIVE COSTS OF DIFFERENT PORTIONS OF THE PROJECT, THE FLOW OF LITTLE BEAR RIVER, AMOUNT OF PROJECT WATER USED BY HYRUM, ETC. BECOME ENTIRELY IMMATERIAL.

However, we believe it our duty to very briefly challenge at least a portion of these arguments.

1. On page 11 of appellant's brief it is stated:

"It is not disputed that the main canals which were constructed *** were not to any extent constructed for the benefit of Hyrum."

This we say is not at all a fact. True Hyrum does not take any water directly out of those canals into its canals for use by its stockholders, but those canals are a necessary part of the project. In order to build a project it must be built for use. The reservoir would never have been built if there were no canals to take

the water after it was stored in the reservoir. It makes no difference whether Hyrum or Wellsville or which stockholders use a direct flow from the reservoir and others get the water by exchange. It takes it all to make the project. The parties understood this when they made the contract fixing what was necessary in the matter of irrigation works to make the project possible. Hyrum cannot be heard to say we do not use your ditches although they are a necessary part of the project.

(2) On page 13 of appellant's brief it is argued that the method of assessment of stock is inequitable because of the use of the direct flow of water during the high water season. This to say the least is a very trivial matter. During the early spring run-off there is water to fill the reservoir and to also fill all the ditches and canals including the Hyrum Canal and all of the parties can use as much of this water as they can use beneficially. If they do not use it then it will run off down to the Bear River and be wasted. The ditches are there, it does no one any harm to use them but counsel says because we had our canal and yours were built in the project you are getting an unfair advantage. This comes to the same place as (1) the canals were a necessary part of the project when it was built and by agreement were made and understood to be such necessary part of the project.

(3) On page 15 Appellant argues "Third Hyrum contends that it is not able to get and does not get its

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